74422.4

74422.4

NO. 74422-4-I

FILED 9-15-16 Court of Appears Division I State of Washington IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

MICHAEL MURRAY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICK WOYNAROWSKI Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The sentencing court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence.

2. The sentencing court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence based on the jury's finding of "sexual motivation" because indecent exposure is an inherently sexual offense.

3. The sentencing court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence based on the jury's finding that Mr. Murray committed his crimes "shortly after" release, where Mr. Murray's law violation was not the result of a disdain for authority but arose out of a medical impairment to his ability to conform his behavior to legal norms.

4. In this unique case, where a brain-injured Mr. Murray sought help for his situation precisely so that he would not reoffend, the "rapid recidivism" aggravator is unconstitutionally vague.

5. Even if either the "sexual motivation" or "rapid recidivism" aggravators could technically be applied to Mr. Murray's crimes, the sentence was clearly excessive because the root of the offending was a medically-based volitional impairment.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A sentencing judge may not justify an exceptional sentence on a fact already taken into account in computing the standard range. Instead, exceptional sentences are intended to impose extra punishment where the particular crime at issue caused more damage than that contemplated by the statute defining the offense.

Indecent exposure requires proof of an open and obscene (lewd or lascivious) exposure of one's person. If indecent exposure

is inherently a sexual offense, did the sentencing court err in imposing an exceptional sentence on the basis that the jury found what Mr. Murray did was sexually motivated?

2. The Sentencing Reform Act allows for an exceptional sentence if the State proves, beyond a reasonable doubt, that "[t]he defendant committed the current offense shortly after being released from incarceration." RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t). To prove this "rapid recidivism" aggravating factor, the State must show an "especially short time period between prior incarceration and reoffense" and the "gravamen" of this aggravating factor" is "disdain for the law." <u>State v. Combs</u>, 156 Wn. App. 502, 506, 232 P.3d 1179 (2010).

Rather than flout the law, following his release from jail Mr. Murray reached out for psychiatric assistance precisely so that he would not reoffend. As a matter of law, is this "rapid recidivism"?

3. A statute is void for vagueness if it either (1) does not define the offense with sufficient definiteness such that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited, or (2) does not provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement.

Is the rapid recidivism aggravator, which allows for an exceptional sentence for those who reoffend "shortly after" release but without guidance as to what that term means or how to incorporate other relevant facts, void for vagueness as applied to this brain-injured offender?

4. The sentencing judge accepted that "there is some medical basis for what Mr. Murray's problems are," but sent him to prison anyways. 12/10/15 RP11. Even if the aggravators could be technically applied to Mr. Murray's crimes, was the sentence clearly excessive?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Stroke and enduring brain damage

On July 3, 2008, first responders brought Michael Murray to the emergency room at Swedish Hospital. Ex. 12 at 2¹; RP 500. He was walking irregularly, slurring his speech, and had left body weakness. A CT scan of his brain "showed a large basal ganglia hemorrhage extending into the caudate area and also extending

¹ Exhibit 12 is Dr. Craig Beaver's "Neuropsychological Examination" report dated January 5, 2015. Dr. Beaver is a licensed psychologist in Idaho, Oregon, Washington and Wyoming. RP 486. Half his work is clinical treatment and the other half is forensic assessment. RP 486. Dr. Beaver has been treating and evaluating individuals who suffer from neurological issues (such as brain injury, strokes, tumors, etc.) for more than thirty years. RP 487-88.

into the right frontal horn." Ex. 12 at 2. In lay terms, Mr. Murray had suffered a serious stroke and had likely suffered one sometime earlier too. <u>Id.</u>; RP 500-01.

A pre-discharge hospital assessment of Mr. Murray's speech and language showed he had difficulty with concentration, mild to moderate difficulties with memory, moderate difficulties with initiation, and moderate difficulties with executive functioning. <u>Id.</u> Additional CT brain scans repeated in 2010 showed enduring brain damage. Ex. 12 at 3 (describing "residual encephalopathy in both the right and left anterior portions of the brain."); RP 500.

In January of 2015, forensic psychologist Dr. Beaver interviewed Mr. Murray and also examined his neuropsychological functioning. Ex. 12; RP 496-99. Mr. Murray told Dr. Beaver that since his 2008 stroke, he has had a hard time focusing, difficulty with his speech, memory, and "feels that he has poor inhibitory control." Id. at 4. Mr. Murray added that he "finds himself doing things before he realizes it," without always understanding why things occur. Id. Mr. Murray also let Dr. Beaver know he found his condition distressing and wanted to address it. Id.

Testing of Mr. Murray's neurocognitive functioning showed multiple deficits, including "obvious inhibitory control issues." <u>Id.</u> at

5-7. After reviewing the 2008 hospital records, speaking with Mr. Murray, and conducting the testing,² Dr. Beaver diagnosed Mr. Murray with a major vascular neurocognitive disorder, with behavioral disturbance, as defined in the DSM-V. <u>Id.</u> at 7.³

Dr. Beaver explained that "anterior cerebrovascular disease, such as demonstrated by Mr. Murray in his head radiological studies, typically results in individuals having decreased inhibitory control." Id. at 7. The frontal cortex of the brain that was injured in Mr. Murray, manages "our reasoning, judgment, [and] inhibitory control." RP 502. Mr. Murray had "terrible trouble" on a particular test which has been demonstrated to be very sensitive for gauging inhibitory and emotional control. RP 510-11. The data reviewed by Dr. Beaver demonstrated that Mr. Murray's inhibitory control problems were caused by the brain damage he suffered: "It's directly related to the dementia that he has involving the frontal cortex." RP 514 (emphasis added).

Referring to then-pending indecent exposure charges, Dr. Beaver concluded that "Mr. Murray's cerebrovascular dementia or

² The testing was valid; Mr. Murray participated to the best of his abilities without trying to fake or exaggerate his difficulties. RP 503-05.

³ Dr. Beaver also opined that this condition, with attendant depression, would significantly limit Mr. Murray's capacity for employment such that he would likely meet Social Security Disability Insurance eligibility guidelines. <u>Id.</u> at 8.

major neurocognitive disorder does appear to be a significant contributing factor to the behavioral dyscontrol he has exhibited, likely resulting in his current legal circumstance." Id. at 8.4

Dr. Beaver suggested that three classes of medication could help with Mr. Murray's behavioral dyscontrol. <u>Id.</u> at 8. Beta blockers are known "to slow impulsive responses, giving the person more time to reflect and inhibit behavior." <u>Id.</u> Similarly, anti-seizure medication can reduce sexual arousal, thus reducing the probability of inappropriate behaviors. Last, antidepressant medication "has also been found effective in decreasing difficulties with dysregulation or dyscontrol." <u>Id.</u>; RP 516-17.

2. <u>Homeless and asking for help</u>

Mr. Murray was in jail when Dr. Beaver interviewed him in January of 2015. Ex. 12 at 2. At trial, the State presented evidence that Mr. Murray left jail on February 17, 2015. RP 476-77.

A week after his release, Mr. Murray went to the Sound Mental Health clinic for help. Ex. 13 at 3. On March 2, 2015, he returned seeking follow-up care. Ex. 14 at 1 ("Sound Mental health

⁴ Dr. Beaver had evaluated Mr. Murray at the request of defense counsel who represented Mr. Murray in an indecent exposure charge arising out of a December 6, 2013, event. <u>Id.</u> at 1. This was an earlier charge than the three convictions now on appeal.

Psych Evaluation"). He provided Dr. Beaver's report to the examiner and asked for assistance: "I need all the help I can get." Id.; RP 518. Despite Dr. Beaver's recommendations, Mr. Murray had no medications prescribed to him upon his February 17, 2015, release from jail. Ex. 14 at 2.

Mr. Murray reported to the Sound Mental health evaluator that "he is afraid he is going to 'start doing dumb things' which he elaborates to refer to his recent indecent exposure episode one year ago." <u>Id.</u> He said that he was "trying very hard to 'do the right things,'" but has periods of depression and hopelessness lasting days at a time. <u>Id.</u> He said he had no plans to reoffend, but understood from Dr. Beaver's evaluation that his 2008 stroke contributed to his acts of exhibitionism. <u>Id.</u> He admitted having two sexual offenses before the stroke. <u>Id.</u>⁵

Sound Mental Health clinicians noted Dr. Beaver's findings as to neurocognitive deficits, secondary to cardiovascular accident. They diagnosed Mr. Murray with a depressive disorder and handed him a prescription for an anti-depressant. Id. at 3. Mr. Murray

⁵ The trial record references a 1994 lewd behavior case in Utah. RP 531. An exhibit to the defense pretrial "Motion To Exclude Prior Convictions" includes a recitation of facts on defendant's statement of guilt indicating that an "extremely intoxicated" Mr. Murray laid down next to two sleeping boys "with his pants undone." Supp. CP ___. The State's request for bail included an assertion that Mr. Murray also has a 2005 indecent exposure conviction from Utah. CP 3.

agreed to call if he were to develop suicidal ideation or untoward side effects and he also agreed to come back to the clinic in one month. <u>Id.</u>

3. March 2015 incidents

On March 4, 2015, S.L., an employee of the Skyline retirement home on Seattle's First Hill, reported seeing a man looking at her and touching his exposed penis. RP 392, 411. This happened on an often-visited 24th floor of the building. RP 371, 378, 382. When S.L. saw the man earlier, he said something to her about it being a nice day and a gorgeous view. RP 385. Not long after this small talk, when the man was confusingly trying to get into the women's bathroom – "he did look confused" – S.L. redirected him to the men's room. RP 386.

S.L. thought this man had left, but then saw him "hiding" behind a wall, with his pants down to mid-thigh and touching himself. RP 390-92. She hid; he left. RP 393-94.

On March 5, 2015, C.Y., an employee at the Dexter Horton building in downtown Seattle, noticed that a man riding in the elevator with her had his penis exposed: "it was just through the zipper." RP 452. He was not touching himself; his hands were pulled up inside his sleeves. RP 453. He said nothing, he did not look over to C.Y., he seemed to be looking straight ahead, and he had no expression on his face. RP 454, 460, 461. C.Y. reported this to co-workers and security. RP 454-55.

On March 9, 2015, L.S., a hair stylist in downtown Seattle's Central Building, called the police to report an elderly man she saw masturbating in the hallway. RP 332, 342. She had seen the same man earlier that day and noticed he had a cane with him. RP 335. When she first saw him, "he just looked confused to [her]." RP 336. "He had his fly down," and she thought he may have been lost. RP 336. The man had stared at her and was expressionless, "cane in his hand, just like stuck." RP 339-40. (L.S.'s customer had seen the man before too. She thought he was "homeless" and saw him "pacing" and "staring" occasionally. RP 424.)

When her customer saw him touching his penis and screamed, there was "a look of surprise" on the man's face. RP 345, 354, 427. He left the building, but L.S. caught up to him and took his picture. RP 346. When she confronted him, there was "a look of shock on his face." RP 347.

4. Charges and aggravating circumstances allegations

Michael Murray was identified as the suspect in all three incidents. E.g. RP 59-92; 622-27. At first, the State charged him

with one count of felony indecent exposure, for the March 4, 2015, incident involving S.L. only. CP 1. The State claimed that what had occurred was a felony indecent exposure because Mr. Murray had been previously convicted of that crime. CP 1. Citing RCW 9.94A.835, the State further alleged that Mr. Murray committed the offense with sexual motivation. CP 1. Citing RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t), the State further alleged that the crime involved the "rapid recidivism" aggravating factor. CP 1.

In an amended information, the State added two more counts, for the March 5 and March 9 incidents. CP 9-10. In a second amended information, the State claimed that the allegations were felonies not only because of a prior indecent exposure conviction, but also because Mr. Murray was in 2010 convicted of indecent liberties, a sex offense under RCW 9A.88.010. CP 3, 17-18. The State made this amendment after defense challenged the facial validity of the alleged indecent exposure priors. RP 47-52, 58 (State concession the priors facially invalid), 62-63.

5. Earlier incidents admitted under ER 404(b)

At trial, the jury heard from S.C., who in 2009, while riding a bus, saw that a man across the aisle had pulled down the waistband to his sweatpants, was touching himself, and looking at

her. RP 563-66. The man, Mr. Murray, stayed in place even when the police boarded the bus; his penis was still partly out. RP 568-69, 574. He told the police he did not know why the woman was upset and he did not know why "he had did it today." RP 575 (sic).

The jury heard from L.M. who in 2012 reported seeing a man masturbating in a Kent DSHS office. RP 631-40. The man had unzipped his pants and had his hand on his penis. RP 635. He left after two people came in. RP 636. He had stared at L.M. as he walked out, but said nothing. RP 636, 640. The responding officer who spoke with Mr. Murray, testified that Mr. Murray first said that this was in the bathroom, not lobby, then that he "had it out, just had it out," but was not masturbating. RP 469. When asked why he had done this, Mr. Murray said "stupidity." RP 469.

The jury heard from E.D. who in 2013 reported seeing Mr. Murray with his pants unzipped and his penis in his hand at the Union Gospel Mission in Seattle. RP 555-57. She told him to get out. RP 559. He said "I'm sorry, I'm sorry," and walked away. RP 561. The arresting officer said that Mr. Murray was "cooperative and seemed somewhat apologetic about the situation." RP 580. Mr. Murray told the officer something to the effect "I'm sorry and it shouldn't have happened." RP 581.

Over objection, the trial court gave the State permission to use the 2009, 2012, and 2013 incidents under ER 404(b) to show that Mr. Murray acted with knowledge that his 2015 conduct was likely to cause reasonable affront or alarm and also as evidence that one of the purposes of him committing the 2015 crimes was sexual gratification. RP 4-30, 38-46, 84-93, 609; CP 74.

6. Diminished capacity defense

Dr. Beaver saw Mr. Murray again after his re-arrest, in September of 2015. Ex. 13 ("Forensic Mental Health Examination," dated September 28, 2015). He reviewed more records and did more testing. Ex. 13 at 1-2; RP 515-18.

Mr. Murray "[s]till had the inhibitory control issues" and still evidenced a major neurocognitive disorder as before. <u>Id.</u> at 6; RP 518-19. In this follow-up report, Dr. Beaver elaborated on the interplay between Mr. Murray's brain damage and criminal culpability. He testified that since the 2008 stroke, Mr. Murray's "ability to inhibit [exposing] behaviors is significantly diminished." RP 520-21.

Dr. Beaver reported that at the time of the March 2015 events, "Mr. Murray reasonably suffered from a cerebrovascular dementia." <u>Id.</u> This meant, that at the time of the charged offenses,

"He has impaired reasoning and judgment, impaired memory, and

of particular note, impaired inhibitory control." Id.

In his report, Dr. Beaver explained:

As a consequence of Mr. Murray's neurological status at and around the time the events took place, based upon current information, he lacked the capacity of "knowing" his conduct (exposing himself) at that moment in time would likely cause reasonable affront or alarm. His decreased capacity for inhibitory control results in him potentially engaging in a behavior without having a full appreciation, or knowing, of how such conduct would reasonably affront another.

Ex. 13 at 8.

His in-court testimony was largely the same:

[W]ith his inhibitory control, it's my opinion that at the time that he engaged in those behaviors he was not able to reflect and consciously know what the impact of the behaviors was going to be until after the behaviors had occurred because <u>he doesn't have that inhibitive or reflective</u> <u>control that we would expect most normal people to have,</u> <u>and he has lost that ability related to his dementia and his</u> <u>cerebral vascular disease.</u>

RP 522 (emphasis added).

7. Errors in past proceedings

Irregularities plagued Mr. Murray's prior cases. The 2009

offense should not have been charged as a felony, because an out-

of-state indecent exposure conviction cannot elevate a Washington

misdemeanor indecent exposure. RCW 9A.88.010(2)(c); RP 58,

62-63. But, Mr. Murray was made to serve 5.5 months in jail on what should have been a 90-day maximum term. Supp. CP ____.

1

The statutory maximum for an unranked felony like indecent exposure is 365 days in jail. But, for the 2012 crime, Mr. Murray was told his standard sentencing range was 13 to 17 months, and he was made to serve 14 months behind bars. Supp. CP ___.

The 2013 crime was correctly treated like an unranked felony and Mr. Murray received a credit-for-time-served sentence of 12 months. CP 3; RP 476-77. But this happened after he had been in jail for 14 continuous months. Three times he was made to serve more time than what the law allowed.

8. Sentenced to prison

The jury was asked to determine guilt on the three counts of felony indecent exposure and whether the aggravating circumstances of sexual motivation and/or rapid recidivism applied. CP 77-79, 83-87. The rapid recidivism question was framed as follows: "Whether the defendant's [sic] committed the crime shortly after being released from incarceration." CP 85-87. The jury received this definition of sexual motivation: "Sexual motivation means that one of the purposes for which the defendant committed the crime was for the purpose of his or her sexual gratification." RP 88.

Notably, the diminished capacity instruction did not reach either of the aggravating circumstances. CP 89 (jury instructed "[e]vidence of mental illness or disorder may be taken into consideration in determining whether the defendant had the capacity to form knowledge.")

The jury declared Mr. Murray guilty of three counts of felony indecent exposure and found that both the rapid recidivism and sexual motivation aggravating factors applied to each. CP 59-64.

At his sentencing, Mr. Murray apologized for what he had done and begged for help as he had done earlier with the Sound Mental Health providers:

> I need counseling or something, I don't need to just be locked up. Locked up's the worst thing because I don't get help being locked up. You know, put me in the state hospital or something. Give me, you know, help me. Help the system.

12/10/15 RP11

The trial court acknowledged the standard sentencing range for each offense was 0-12 months, accepted that "there is some medical basis for what Mr. Murray's problems are," but sent him to serve three years in prison anyway. 12/10/15 RP11; CP 97-99.

E. ARGUMENT

IN IMPOSING AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED.

The Sentencing Reform Act ("SRA") creates a grid of standard sentencing ranges calculated according to the seriousness level of the crime in question and the defendant's offender score. RCW 9.94A.505 et seq.; <u>State v. Ford</u>, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). The offender score is the sum of points accrued as a result of prior convictions. RCW 9.94A.525.

For unranked felonies such as felony indecent exposure, there is one standard range irrespective of the offender score: 0 to 365 days in jail. RCW 9.94A.505(2)(b).

There can be no departure from the applicable standard range unless a number of conditions are satisfied. The court must find there are "substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence RCW 9.94A.535; RCW 9.94A.537(6). The court must set forth its reasons for departure from the standard range in written findings of fact and conclusions of law. RCW 9.94A.535. The State must give notice of the specific aggravating factor(s) on which it is relying, and is limited to the factors set forth in the statute. RCW 9.94A.535; RCW 9.94A.537. The State must prove facts supporting an aggravated sentence beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 9.94A.537(3).

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