FILED 11-2-16 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 74422-4-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MICHAEL DAVID MURRAY,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DOUGLASS A. NORTH

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

KRISTIN A. RELYEA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

###

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

Murray seeks reversal of his exceptional sentence, arguing that the trial court erred by imposing an aggravated sentence based on the jury's findings that he committed indecent exposure with sexual motivation and rapid recidivism. Murray, however, waived these claims by requesting an exceptional sentence and thereby conceding that the jury's findings provided substantial and compelling reasons to depart from the standard range. Additionally, because the trial court concluded that it would have imposed the same sentence based on either aggravating circumstance, Murray's sentence must be affirmed unless he successfully demonstrates that both aggravating circumstances were invalid. CP 97; State v. Jackson, 150 Wn.2d 251, 276, 76 P.3d 217 (2003). For the reasons discussed more fully below, Murray cannot carry this burden. This Court should affirm Murray's exceptional sentence.

# 1. MURRAY WAIVED HIS CHALLENGE TO THE IMPOSITION OF AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE UPWARD BY SEEKING ONE HIMSELF.

For the first time on appeal, Murray claims that the trial court erred when it departed upward from the standard range, despite the fact that he requested such a sentence. Any error was either invited or waived. This Court should exercise its discretion not to address Murray's claim.

A defendant who invites error – even constitutional error – may not claim on appeal that the error requires a new trial. State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999) (counsel may not request an instruction and then challenge the instruction on appeal). Under the invited error doctrine, "a party who sets up an error at trial cannot claim that very action as error on appeal." State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 153, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). The rationale behind the doctrine is to prevent parties from misleading trial courts and thereby receiving a windfall. Id. In determining whether the invited error doctrine precluded a defendant's claim on review, courts have considered whether a defendant affirmatively assented to the error, materially contributed to it, or benefited from it. Id. at 154.

Here, Murray asked the court to impose an exceptional sentence:

We're asking for an exceptional sentence . . . because we want there to be some additional time in the jail so that he can work with the release planning staff to come up with a release plan that ensures community protection.

I'm asking the Court to impose a 365 day sentence on Counts I and II, and then a consecutive sentence of 120 days on Count III.

12/10/15RP 10. Murray's briefing omits any mention of the fact that he asked for an exceptional sentence upward.

By asking the court to depart upward from the standard range, Murray necessarily conceded that the aggravating factors provided substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence. Murray is precluded from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal. See State v. Smith, 82 Wn. App. 153, 163, 916 P.2d 960 (1996) (invited error doctrine precluded defendant from seeking review of "deliberate cruelty" aggravating factor because he urged the court to impose an exceptional sentence upward and conceded the factor's existence).

Even if the alleged error was not invited, it was waived.

Courts have held that "when a defendant has stipulated to an exceptional sentence, he waives his right to appellate review of the

sentence." State v. Ermels, 156 Wn.2d 529, 539, 131 P.3d 299 (2006) (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Breedlove, 138 Wn.2d 298, 300, 311, 979 P.2d 417 (1999)). Here, Murray did more than stipulate to an exceptional sentence; he asked for one. 12/10/15RP 10. In doing so, Murray essentially admitted that the aggravating factors provided substantial and compelling reasons to justify an exceptional sentence, and thereby waived his right to appellate review.

## 2. SEXUAL MOTIVATION IS NOT INHERENT IN THE CRIME OF INDECENT EXPOSURE.

Murray argues that the trial court erred by imposing an exceptional sentence based in part on the jury's finding that he committed the crimes with sexual motivation. He contends that "indecent exposure is a sex offense which cannot be aggravated by a finding of sexual motivation." Br. of Appellant at 24. Murray's claim fails under a plain and common sense reading of the relevant statutes.

A person commits indecent exposure if he "intentionally makes any open and obscene exposure" of "his person" knowing that such conduct is "likely to cause reasonable affront or alarm." RCW 9A.88.010(1). Although the statute does not define the

phrase "any open and obscene exposure of his or her person," Washington common law has defined it as "a lascivious exhibition of those private parts of the person which instinctive modesty, human decency, or common propriety require shall be customarily kept covered in the presence of others." State v. Vars, 157 Wn. App. 482, 490, 237 P.3d 378 (2010) (quoting State v. Galbreath, 69 Wn.2d 664, 668, 419 P.2d 800 (1966)). The essence of indecent exposure is an intentional and obscene exposure of genitalia in the presence of another, regardless of whether the other person sees it. Vars, 158 Wn. App. at 491.

A court may impose an exceptional sentence if a jury finds that the defendant committed the charged crime with sexual motivation, i.e., for purposes of sexual gratification. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(f); RCW 9.94A.030(48). The aggravating circumstance of sexual motivation, however, "shall not be applied to sex offenses." RCW 9.94A.835(2). As Murray concedes, indecent exposure is not an enumerated sex offense. RCW 9.94A.030(47). Thus, sexual motivation may form the basis of an exceptional sentence for the crime of indecent exposure.

Nonetheless, Murray argues that indecent exposure is an inherently sexual offense, despite the Legislature's refusal to define

it as such. Murray primarily rests his claim on <u>State v. Thomas</u>, where the state supreme court held that felony murder predicated on rape is not a sex offense precluding the imposition of an exceptional sentence based on sexual motivation. 138 Wn.2d 630, 636-38, 980 P.2d 1275 (1999).

In <u>Thomas</u>, the court recognized that the purpose of the aggravating circumstance of sexual motivation is "to hold those offenders who commit sexually motivated crimes more culpable than those offenders who commit the *same crimes* without sexual motivation." <u>Id.</u> at 636 (emphasis in original). The court reasoned that sexual motivation "logically applies only to offenses that are *not* inherently sexual in nature," such as felony murder, and imposes greater culpability because the defendant committed the crime for the purpose of sexual gratification. <u>Id.</u> (emphasis in original).

By claiming that "indecent exposure criminalizes a sexual act," Murray essentially argues that every act of indecent exposure is inherently sexual. He is mistaken. The gravamen of indecent exposure is the intentional and obscene display of genitalia in another's presence. <u>Vars</u>, 158 Wn. App. at 491. Neither the statute nor the case law require that the exhibition be for the purpose of sexual gratification.

Indeed, one can easily conjure up scenarios of indecent exposure that are not sexual in nature: streaking naked across a college campus, riding a bike unclothed in a parade to celebrate the summer solstice, or standing nude outside the 2016 Republican National Convention as a political protest. In each one, people intentionally and explicitly display their genitalia for a reason other than sexual gratification. Murray's claim fails because indecent exposure is not categorized as a sex offense, and does not require the more culpable mental state of acting for the purpose of sexual gratification.

3. MURRAY REOFFENDED WITH RAPID RECIDIVISM BY COMMITTING THREE COUNTS OF INDECENT EXPOSURE WITHIN THREE WEEKS OF BEING RELEASED FROM JAIL.

Murray argues that the trial court erred by imposing an exceptional sentence based on rapid recidivism because he sought professional help when he was released from jail to prevent him from reoffending, and therefore lacked the "disdain for the law" that the aggravating circumstance allegedly requires. Although Murray

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Although not widely reported, on July 17, 2016, 100 women stood naked outside the Republican National Convention to peacefully protest the Republican nominee's "hateful rhetoric" toward women. Available at http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/100-women-just-got-naked-together-at-the-republican-national-convention\_us\_578cc902e4b0867123e1bf86 (last visited Oct. 28, 2016) (*Warning:* nude photos).

claims that the "State failed to prove <u>rapid</u> recidivism," suggesting a sufficiency of the evidence challenge and a clearly erroneous standard of review, Murray frames the issue "[a]s a matter of law," suggesting a de novo standard of review. Br. of Appellant at 4, 28 (emphasis in original).

Under either standard, Murray's challenge fails. Substantial evidence supports the jury's conclusion that Murray committed indecent exposure with rapid recidivism given that Murray had been released from jail only three weeks prior to committing three counts of indecent exposure. Further, the "disdain for the law" referenced in the case law is not an additional element of rapid recidivism, but merely a rationale for imposing an exceptional sentence.

To prove rapid recidivism, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the current offense "shortly after being released from incarceration." RCW 9.94A.535(3)(t). The statute does not define the phrases "shortly after" or "released from incarceration." Courts have repeatedly held that the statute does not require the State to prove additional factors such as the similarity of the prior and current offenses, a greater disregard or disdain for the law, or heightened culpability.

E.g., State v. Williams, 159 Wn. App. 298, 312-14, 244 P.3d 1018

(2011); State v. Combs, 156 Wn. App. 502, 506, 232 P.3d 1179 (2010); State v. Cham, 165 Wn. App. 438, 449, 267 P.3d 528 (2011). Rather, these factors provide "merely an explanation of, and justification for" imposing an exceptional sentence based on rapid recidivism. Williams, 159 Wn. App. at 313.

On review, an appellate court will not reverse an exceptional sentence unless (1) there is insufficient evidence in the record to support the reasons for imposing an exceptional sentence under a clearly erroneous standard, (2) the reasons provided by the sentencing court do not justify a departure from the standard range under a de novo standard, or (3) the sentence is clearly excessive or clearly too lenient under an abuse of discretion standard. RCW 9.94A.585(4); State v. Law, 154 Wn.2d 85, 93, 110 P.3d 717 (2005).

Murray argues that the State "failed to prove" that he committed indecent exposure "shortly after" release. Br. of Appellant at 28. To the extent that Murray is challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, his claim is subject to the "clearly erroneous" standard of review requiring the appellate court to affirm the jury's finding unless "no substantial evidence supports its conclusion." State v. Jeannotte, 133 Wn.2d 847, 856, 947 P.2d

1192 (1997) (quoting <u>State v. Grewe</u>, 117 Wn.2d 211, 218, 813 P.2d 1238 (1991)).

Here, the State produced evidence that Murray was released from the King County jail on February 17, 2015, and that he reoffended within three weeks, committing indecent exposure on March 4, March 5, and March 9, 2015. RP 332, 408-11, 447, 477. Thus, substantial evidence supports the finding that Murray committed the current offenses "shortly after" his release from incarceration. CP 97.

Courts have affirmed exceptional sentences based on rapid recidivism with longer timeframes. See State v. Saltz, 137 Wn. App. 576, 584-85, 154 P.3d 282 (2007) (upholding exceptional sentence where the defendant reoffended 30 days after release); State v. Zigan, 166 Wn. App. 597, 605-06, 270 P.3d 625 (2012) (affirming exceptional sentence where defendant reoffended two months after release); State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 141-42, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), overruled on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006) (suggesting defendant's commission of the same offense against the same victim three months after his release demonstrated rapid recidivism).

Nonetheless, Murray argues that the trial court erred as a matter of law because he lacked the "disdain for the law" that rapid recidivism allegedly requires. This argument is flawed in many respects. First, as this Court previously held in Williams, rapid recidivism requires only that the defendant reoffend shortly after being released from incarceration. 149 Wn. App. at 312-14. The "disdain for the law" referenced in case law is not an additional factual element that must be found by the jury, but rather the justification for allowing imposition of an exceptional sentence based on rapid recidivism. <u>Id.</u> at 314. Murray does not acknowledge Williams, even though it is directly on point.

Further, it is the "'short time between release from prison and reoffense' that 'demonstrate[s] a disregard and disdain for the law.'" Id. at 311 (quoting Hughes, 154 Wn.2d at 141). As discussed above, Murray's three-week timeframe for reoffending establishes his disdain for the law. The fact that Murray sought professional help upon release bears minimally, if at all, on the question presented to the jury. Murray's effort to mitigate his culpability is more relevant to the trial court's determination at sentencing whether the short time period between Murray's release and re-offense provided a substantial and compelling reason to

depart from the standard sentencing range. While the trial court could have found that Murray's rapid recidivism was not a substantial and compelling reason to depart from the standard range because of Murray's efforts to seek professional help, it was not required as a matter of law to do so. <u>Id.</u> at 314; RCW 9.94A.537(6). The trial court properly imposed an exceptional sentence based on rapid recidivism under either the clearly erroneous or the de novo standards of review.

## 4. MURRAY'S VAGUENESS CHALLENGE TO THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE FAILS.

Alternatively, Murray claims that the trial court erred by imposing an exceptional sentence based on the rapid recidivism aggravating circumstance because it is unconstitutionally vague under the due process clause. Murray's claim fails because the sentencing guidelines are not subject to a void-for-vagueness challenge under established Washington Supreme Court precedent. Moreover, even if Murray could raise a vagueness challenge, his claim fails because the rapid recidivism aggravating circumstance was not unconstitutionally vague as applied to him, and this Court has previously upheld the aggravating circumstance

against a void-for-vagueness challenge. <u>Williams</u>, 159 Wn. App. at 319-20.

a. Exceptional Sentence Aggravating
Circumstances Are Not Subject To Due
Process Vagueness Challenges.

Under the due process clause, a statute is void for vagueness if it either (1) fails to define the offense with sufficient precision that a person of ordinary intelligence can understand it, or (2) it does not provide standards sufficiently specific to prevent arbitrary enforcement. State v. Eckblad, 152 Wn.2d 515, 518, 98 P.3d 1184 (2004). Both prongs of the vagueness doctrine focus on laws that proscribe or mandate conduct. State v. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d 448, 458, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003).

The state supreme court has previously held that aggravating circumstances are not subject to vagueness challenges under the due process clause because they "do not define conduct nor do they allow for arbitrary arrest and criminal prosecution by the State." Id. at 459. Because the guidelines do not set penalties, a citizen reading them would not have to guess at the possible consequences of engaging in criminal conduct. Id. Consequently, the due process concerns that underlie the void-for-vagueness doctrine have "no application" in the context of

sentencing guidelines. <u>Id.</u> Further, the guidelines do not create a "constitutionally protectable liberty interest" because they do not require that a specific sentence be imposed. <u>Id.</u> at 461.

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